IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

DONNA FRANKS, as P.R. of the Estate of JOSEPH JAMES FRANKS, SR., Deceased

Petitioner/Appellant

v.

CASE NO.: SC 11-1258 L.T. No.: 1D10-3078, 16-2010-CA-00474-XXX

GARY JOHN BOWERS, M.D., BENJAMIN M. PIPERNO, III, M.D., and NORTH FLORIDA SURGEONS, P.A., a Florida Corporation,

Respondent/Appellee

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER FRANKS' INTIAL BRIEF

EDWARDS & RAGATZ, P.A.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In this wrongful death medical malpractice case, the First District held that plaintiff's statutory rights under the Medical Malpractice Act were reduced in an arbitration agreement prepared by the doctor's group but plaintiff was nonetheless obligated to proceed in arbitration. (A. A3-6). This conflicts with *Romano* and is incompatible with this court's recent opinions in *Shotts* and *Gessa*.¹

The case was brought by Plaintiff, Donna Franks as Personal Representative of the Estate of her husband, Joseph Franks, against defendants, North Florida Surgeons and their physicians, Drs. Piperno and Bowers. (A. C1). North Florida Surgeons allege a binding pre-dispute arbitration agreement was executed between it and Mr. Franks when he sought medical care from the practice for evaluation of an enlarged lymph node (a lump) in the groin area. (A. B1-4; D1-3). The arbitration agreement reduced the rights plaintiff had under the Medical Malpractice Act (Chapter 766). §§766.101-766.316, Fla. Stat. (2009). This appeal was taken after arbitration was compelled following a hearing without evidence.

Joseph Franks was a patient under the care and treatment of North Florida

¹*Romano v. Manor Care, Inc.*, 861 So. 2d 59, 62 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004). *See also Shotts v. OP Winter Haven, Inc.*, No. SC08-1774, slip op. at 31 (Fla. Nov. 23, 2011); *Gessa v.Manor Care of Fla., Inc.*, No. SC09-768, slip op. at 16-17 (Fla. Nov. 23, 2011).

Surgeons from September 2008 until his untimely death five (5) months later, in February 2009. (A. C4-5). The death of this 67 year old gentleman was allegedly due to the negligent failure to prevent, manage and treat acute pulmonary emboli following a routine left inguinal hernia procedure. (A. C6-9). The alleged medical negligence occurred many months after execution of the arbitration agreement, when Franks underwent a left inguinal hernia repair. (A. C6-9; D2).

Because no discovery was allowed, there is no evidence as to how the document got signed. The one page arbitration agreement was within a four page document entitled, "North Florida Surgeons Financial Agreement" which addressed insurance billing issues on the first page. (A. B1-4). The agreement is a small type, single spaced four page document. (A. B1-4).

The patient signature lines are on page three and page four, not on the second page with the arbitration agreement. (A. B2-4). The "Financial Agreement" included sections on patient information, privacy notice acknowledgment, financial responsibility, responsibility to provide proof of insurance and obtain [managed care] referral [all on page one]; arbitration and limitation of damages [on page two without any place for a patient signature or acknowledgement]; insurance waiver, credit card on file and a non-coverage services waiver with acknowledgement/patient signature [on page three]; and

2

assignment of benefits, assignment of Medicare benefits and signature [on page four]. (A. B1-4).

On the page containing the arbitration agreement language:

- 1. There was a blank for the patient's name which was not filled in (A. B2);
- 2. There was no place for a signature on that page (A. B2);
- The agreement expressly adopted the Florida Arbitration Code (Chapter 682), §§682.02-682.22, Fla. Stat. (2009) (A. B2);
- 4. The agreement referenced The Medical Malpractice Act (Florida Chapter 766), the Florida Constitution and section 766.207, Florida Statutes, (A. B2);
- The agreement changed and limited patient rights under Chapter 766 (A. B2);
- 6. The agreement did not tell the patient that their statutory rights were changed or reduced;
- The agreement stated that the patient would receive awarded damages
 "...pursuant to the formula contained in Florida Statutes, section 766.207." (A. B2);
- 8. The agreement did not explain that as a precondition to the damage limitation in section 766.207, a healthcare provider must agree to

arbitrate only the amount of damages and provide other benefits to plaintiff;

- 9. The NFS arbitration agreement did not agree to arbitrate only damages;
- 10. There was no explanation provided to the patient as to what statutory rights were given up in this agreement;
- 11. There was no reference to any federal law or the federal arbitration code;
- 12. There was no express language mandating that an arbitrator decide disputes over the validity of the arbitration agreement;
- 13. The agreement expressly adopted Chapter 682, including section 682.03, Florida Statutes providing that the court shall determine issues relating to the validity and enforceability of the arbitration agreement (A. B2); and
- 14. There was no "severability provision" in the agreement.

The Arbitration agreement expressly required patient Franks to participate in a Chapter 766 "pre-suit" prior to any arbitration. (A. B2). There was no express requirement for NFS to participate in the pre-suit.

A Chapter 766 "pre-suit" was timely performed by the Estate of Franks. (A. C6, ¶24). During the mandated pre-suit process Frank's Estate offered to arbitrate under section 766.207. Defendant NFS did not accept. (A. E2). As discussed in argument below, the arbitration under section 766.207 required NFS to arbitrate

only the issue of damages, pay for the arbitration, pay some of plaintiff's attorney's fees, accept joint liability and follow a mandated expeditious process.

Plaintiff Franks then filed suit. (A. C). In response, Defendant NFS filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration and Dismiss – moving to compel the NFS arbitration agreement - not the Chapter 766 arbitration agreement offered by plaintiff. (A. D).

NFS motion maintained that NFS could enforce the arbitration agreement with section 766.207 caps on damages, without the section 766.207 procedures, protections and benefits for the plaintiff (i.e. admission of liability by defendant/ arbitrate only the issue of damages; defendant pays the cost of arbitration; defendant pays plaintiff attorney's fees, expedited statutory arbitration process overseen by an Administrative Judge, etc.). (A. D). Plaintiff Franks responded with:

- 1. A document entitled "Legal Grounds for Motion to Strike Arbitration" raising legal issues/objections to arbitration, raising various legal grounds for voiding the arbitration agreement including public policy violations and changes to plaintiff's rights under Florida law (A. G);
- 2. A separate Request for Discovery and an Evidentiary Hearing on the validity of the arbitration agreement, including how it got executed, if the legal grounds were denied (A. F); and

 A Memorandum of Law in Opposition to ... NFS Motion to Dismiss and Compel Arbitration. (A. E).

On April 29, 2010, the Circuit Judge held a hearing on plaintiff's motions and on North Florida Surgeon's Motion to Compel Arbitration under their agreement. (A. H). Memoranda were submitted by all parties. (A. E; I; J). No discovery or evidence was permitted. (A. H).

The plaintiff's Motion seeking discovery and an evidentiary hearing was denied, along with plaintiff's other motions. (A. K). Defendant's motion was granted and Arbitration was compelled under the NFS arbitration agreement – not under the Chapter 766 arbitration procedure offered by plaintiff and rejected by defendant. (A. K10).

The Circuit Judge expressed concerns over whether the arbitration provisions violated public policy, both during the hearing, and in the resulting order compelling arbitration. (A. H8-21, 41; K5-10). One of the stated concerns was that the NFS arbitration agreement provided a cap on damages that is significantly less than the section 766.118 statutory cap of one million² dollars

² Paragraph six of the Judge's Order mistakenly states the applicable cap for this matter is \$750,000.00/\$1,500,000.00 (\$766.118(3), Fla. Stat.) which is the cap for non-practitioners. This matter deals with practitioners so the applicable cap is actually \$500,000.00/\$1,000,000.00 (\$766.118(2), Fla. Stat.) which still exceeds the North Florida Surgeons Financial Services Agreement's \$250,000.00 cap.

available to plaintiff in court. (A. K5, 8-10). Nonetheless, the order indicated that the Judge was bound by Florida law to order arbitration. (A. K10).

A timely appeal to the First District followed. (A. L). The First District upheld the trial court and remanded for proceedings in arbitration. *Franks v. Bowers*, No. 1D10-3078, slip op. at 6 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 16, 2011); (A. A6). The First District held that the NFS arbitration agreement changed and limited patient's rights provided by the Medical Malpractice Act (Chapter 766) but found no basis to void the arbitration agreement. *Franks*, No. 1D10-3078, slip op. at 3-6; (A. A3-6).

A timely Petition to this Court followed, based upon conflict jurisdiction, claiming that the *Franks* decision below conflicted with *Romano* which held that an arbitration decision which changed a plaintiff's rights under Florida law was void for public policy reasons. On November 8, 2011 this court accepted Jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The NFS arbitration agreement made an express choice of law. (A. B2). It adopted Florida law to govern this dispute. (A. B2). Under Florida law the Court was obligated to void the arbitration agreement on public policy grounds.

Arbitration is supposed to be an alternative forum for resolution of a dispute where the parties can vindicate the same legal rights as they have in court. *Romano*, 861 So.2d at 62. When one party attempts to use an arbitration agreement to change the other party's legal rights and remedies, the agreement is void. *Id.* at 62-63.

The First District acknowledged that the NFS Arbitration Agreement changed and limited the rights plaintiff Franks had under the Medical Malpractice Act (Chapter 766), but failed to protect those rights. The Medical Malpractice Act uses a system of tiered caps on non-economic damages to encourage early resolution of valid claims. The stated purpose is to reduce the costs of medical malpractice.

This agreement dispensed with the tiered cap system that encouraged early resolution and took the lowest cap available for physicians. However, the arbitration agreement accepted none of the obligations required in exchange for the low cap. These mandated statutory obligations had a remedial purpose – to encourage early and inexpensive resolution of claims to reduce medical malpractice costs.

The rights that were limited and changed were remedial rights because they were the same rights which were acknowledged as new rights, supporting the "quid pro quo *Kluger*³ analysis" in *University of Miami v. Echarte*, 618 So.2d 189, 193-

³ Kluger v. White, 281 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973).

94 (Fla. 1993). Thus, the arbitration agreement violated public policy because it took away remedial statutory rights found in *Echarte*.

This Court's recent opinions in *Shotts* and *Gessa* apply to this case and require a finding that the NFS Arbitration agreement is void. Like those two nursing home arbitration cases, these healthcare providers used a contract of adhesion to limit, reduce and change the plaintiff's statutory rights.

The Medical Malpractice Act was found in *Echarte* to be a comprehensive act with interdependent provisions which had to work together to achieve the stated purpose. The approach taken in the NFS Arbitration Agreement (\$250,000 non-economic caps without any obligation to pay and expedite the case) was rejected by the legislature when creating the current legislative scheme.

In this arbitration agreement, plaintiff's damages were capped below the amounts provided to this plaintiff in court by Chapter 766. The non-economic damage caps for a plaintiff in court were \$500,000/\$1,000,000 - higher than non-economic damage caps for a plaintiff in Chapter 766 arbitration (\$250,000.00 diminished by a formula). As precondition to Chapter 766 arbitration, a defendant must agree to arbitrate only the amount of damages in the arbitration and defendant was required to pay numerous other items not required in court (joint and several liability, costs of arbitration, attorney's fees, etc.).

9

Thus, in Chapter 766 arbitration a defendant could get a lower cap than in court BUT ONLY by accepting responsibility for the damages (no liability defenses) and by agreeing to pay for many of plaintiff's cost of arbitration. The NFS agreement provided plaintiff none of these benefits, but unilaterally took all the advantages (lower cap on damages). Thus, the means to encourage early inexpensive resolution were also lost.

The arbitration agreement also violates the public policy of Florida for other reasons. In a personal injury action, an injured party's tort cause of action is not dependent on a contract, but is instead based upon the defendant's duty to meet society's standards of safety. Disclaimers, limitations and exculpatory clauses may not impair personal injury actions for public policy reasons. This case involves professionals providing a service necessary to the community, so the common law public policy protections are heightened.

"A consumer should not be charged with bearing the risk of physical injury when ... [he or she buys a product or services]."⁴ When a professional is involved, the public policy issues overwhelmingly favor accountability for basic standards of reasonable conduct, to avoid injury to clients/patients and the public.

⁴ Fla. Power & Light Co. v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 510 So.2d 899, 902 (Fla. 1987).

The parties are not on an equal footing in negotiating a contract because this involves necessary professional services. Thus, tort principles, not contract principles, govern these responsibilities. Just as the Economic Loss Rule governs economic contractual losses and limits tort "invasion" into the contract action – there is a counterbalance under common law principles. Public policy prohibits a professional, providing necessary services to the community, from contractually limiting responsibility for breaches of the duty of professional care. "While provisions of a contract may impact a legal dispute, including an action for professional services, the mere existence of such a contract should not serve, per se, to bar an action for professional malpractice."⁵ Defendant's contractual limitations voided this contract because it took away basic tort rights protecting plaintiff and the public.

Defendant incorporated the Medical Malpractice Act into the agreement. In this case, plaintiff offered to arbitrate under a comprehensive arbitral scheme established by the Florida Legislature. Defendant's failure to accept the plaintiff's offer to arbitrate under the Medical Malpractice Act was a waiver of the right to arbitrate.

⁵ Moransais v. Heathman, 744 So.2d 973, 983 (Fla. 1999).

The portions of the arbitration agreement that offend public policy are not severable under *Shotts* and *Gessa*, because the contractual rights of the parties could be altered by removing them.⁶ Therefore, the contract is void. In addition, defendant did not include a "severability" clause in this contract of adhesion and therefore is left without a contract if any part is voided.

If the underlying Franks decision stands, hospitals, physicians, and other healthcare providers will use the First District opinion to justify agreements which impair plaintiff's rights. There will be no enforceable community safety standards. Rights set by the legislature and common law protections will be illusory. Any person needing medical care will need a lawyer to navigate documents created by their fiduciary healthcare provider or they will have no right to expect compliance with fundamental standards of healthcare. Professionals should not be permitted to take away common law or statutory rights designed to enforce community standards of care.

ARGUMENT

I. The Standard of Review for all issues is "de novo".

When a claim is based on written materials before this Court, the issue is a pure question of law, subject to de novo review. *See Aills v. Boemi*, 29 So. 3d

⁶ Shotts, No. SC08-1774, slip op. at 38; Gessa, No. SC09-768, slip op. at 10-12.

1105, 1108 (Fla. 2010); *Powertel, Inc. v. Bexley*, 743 So. 2d 570, 573 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (decision construing contract presents an issue of law and is subject to de novo standard of review); *see also Shotts*, No.SC08-1774, slip op. at 8; *Gessa*, No. SC09-768, slip op. at 9. In this case, there was no discovery or evidentiary hearing permitted, despite a request by plaintiff. The Circuit Judge and the First District ruled purely based upon an arbitration agreement. This is the same written record presented to this court. Thus, the standard of review for all issues herein is "de novo" review. *Id*.

II. The issue of whether this arbitration agreement is voidable is governed by Florida law.

A. The arbitration agreement chose Florida law and federal law respects this choice of law.

The arbitration agreement herein expressly adopts Florida law. (A. B2). The arbitration agreement expressly references the Florida Arbitration Code (Chapter 682), incorporated the Florida Medical Malpractice Act (Chapter 766), the Florida Constitution and expressly references section 766.207. (A. B2). There is no reference anywhere in the agreement to federal law or the Federal Arbitration Code.

It is a well-settled rule of federal law that federal law will honor a party's voluntary contractual commitments. See, e.g., Am. Airlines, Inc. v. Wolens, 513

U.S. 219, 228-33 (1995) (federal law will not preempt a party's voluntarily assumed contractual obligations). Thus, this arbitration agreement is governed by Florida law.

Defendant NFS was obligated to follow Florida law as it related to this comprehensive arbitral scheme. This agreement adopted the Florida Medical Malpractice Act (Chapter 766). (A. B2). Thus, NFS could not pick and choose which parts of the law to follow. Federal arbitration law does not trump a state's right to set appropriate arbitral procedures under state law. *See Volt v. Stanford Univ.*, 489 U.S. 468, 474-76 (1989) (Choice of law provision incorporating state rules will not be set aside by federal law.). This agreement recited Florida law, including Chapter 766 and section 766.207. (A. B2). In *Volt*, the US Supreme Court held that when a party adopted California law, and California statutes did not require the parties to proceed in arbitration for procedural reasons, the federal arbitration law would not trump the state law in the agreement. *Volt*, 489 U.S. at 474-76.

Similarly, federal law will not trump the state (Florida) law incorporated into this contract. The agreement in this case adopted both Chapter 682 (Florida Arbitration Code) and Chapter 766. Chapter 766 is the later passed act and contains a complete and comprehensive set of arbitration rules and procedures that are specific to medical malpractice arbitration.⁷ Under Chapter 766, when plaintiff offered to arbitrate under section 766.207 and defendant declined, the statutes expressly provide:

(3) If the defendant refuses a claimant's offer of voluntary binding arbitration:

(a) The claimant shall proceed to trial.... (emphasis supplied)

See §766.209(3)(a).

The Florida statute at issue (section 766.207) provides that to arbitrate in medical malpractice, with caps lower than permitted in court, defendant has to accept certain responsibilities, including complete liability for damages. *See* §766.207. Otherwise; plaintiff has the right to "proceed to trial". In trial plaintiff has the right to higher caps on non-economic damages.⁸ *See* §766.118.

⁷ The Medical Malpractice Act is specific to this type of case, while Chapter 682 is a general act. *See State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co. v. Nichols*, 932 So. 2d 1067, 1073 (Fla. 2006)("In considering this issue, we note the 'long-recognized principle of statutory construction that where two statutory provisions are in conflict, the specific statute controls over the general statute.' *State v. J.M.*, 824 So. 2d 105, 112 (Fla. 2002)(citing *State ex rel. Johnson v. Vizzini*, 227 So. 2d 205, 207 (Fla. 1969))).

⁸ At trial plaintiff has the right to \$500,000/\$1,000,000 instead of the arbitration cap of \$250,000 with formulaic reduction.

There is no federal policy favoring arbitration under a particular set of procedures. *See Volt*, 489 U.S. at 474. The federal courts will not interfere with state rules which encourage arbitration. *Id*.

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