IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-1258

DONNA MARIE FRANKS, as the personal representative of the Estate of JOSEPH JAMES FRANKS, SR., deceased,

Petitioner,

v.

1st DCA Case No.: 1D10-3078

GARY JOHN BOWERS, M.D., BENJAMIN A. PIPERNO, III, M.D., and NORTH FLORIDA SURGEONS, P.A., a Florida corporation

Respondents.

_____/

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF

MATHIS & MURPHY, P.A.

Kelly B. Mathis, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 0768588 Laurie M. Lee, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 0668257 1200 Riverplace Blvd, Suite 902 Jacksonville, FL 32207 (904) 396-5500; (904) 396-5560 (fax) Attorneys for Respondents

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

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

The validity of an arbitration clause in a contract presents a question of law, which is reviewed by the appellate court using the de novo standard of review. <u>Global Travel Marketing, Inc. v. Shea</u>, 908 So. 2d 392, 396 (Fla. 2005).

I. <u>Petitioner's nursing home case law is not applicable and does not</u> <u>conflict with the First DCA's opinion below.</u>

Petitioner asserts that the contract at issue ("Contract") violates public policy and is therefore void. Petitioner relies almost exclusively on case law involving the Nursing Home Residents Act ("NHRA") for the premise that an arbitration agreement containing provisions which undermine the rights granted by a remedial statute is against public policy and is therefore void as a matter of law.

The NHRA cases, including this Court's recent holdings in <u>Shotts v. OP</u> <u>Winter Haven, Inc.</u>, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S665b (Nov. 23, 2011) and <u>Gessa v. Manor</u> <u>Care of Fla., Inc.</u>, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S676a (Nov. 23, 2011) are readily distinguishable. First, the NHRA was enacted for a vastly different statutory purpose than the Medical Malpractice Act ("MMA"). Second, the NHRA is a "remedial" statute created to establish a completely new cause of action in order to protect nursing home residents from abuse. The MMA, on the other hand, is not a "remedial" statute because it limits and reduces the rights and remedies of patients in order to address the societal problem of high medical malpractice insurance premiums. Third, the Contract is consistent with the purpose of the MMA and is therefore supported by the public policy of this state. It does not frustrate the remedies created by statute nor diminish or circumvent those remedies. Therefore, the rule of law from Petitioner's NHRA cases is not applicable to this case and cannot be used to invalidate the Contract. There is no express and direct conflict between the NHRA cases and the First DCA's opinion below.

A. The NHRA and the MMA have different statutory purposes and address different public policies.

The arbitration agreements in Petitioner's NHRA cases contained provisions which directly frustrated the purpose of the NHRA. The enactment of the NHRA was specifically designed to address "substantial elder abuse occurring in nursing homes" as revealed by an extensive grand jury investigation. <u>Shotts</u>, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S665b. The purpose of the NHRA was to protect nursing home residents by giving each resident specific statutory rights and a new cause of action for their violation. Fla. Stat. § 400.023(1)(2011). No specific cause of action previously protected this class of citizens.

In contrast, the MMA was enacted to address the financial crisis occurring with escalating medical malpractice insurance premiums and rising healthcare costs. <u>Univ. of Miami v. Echarte</u>, 618 So. 2d 189, 191 (Fla. 1993). The Legislature addressed the fact that physicians in Florida had seen a 229% to 444% increase in insurance premiums and that the average cost of defending a

malpractice claim was increasing at a rate of seventeen percent (17%) per year. <u>Id.</u> at 190 (citing to the Academic Task Force for Review of Insurance and Tort Systems, Medical Malpractice Recommendations at 10-11 (Nov. 6, 1987)("1987 Task Force Report"). The Legislature also considered that healthcare premiums were continuing to rise at an excessive rate. <u>See</u> Governor's Select Task Force on Healthcare Professional Liability Insurance, *Final Report and Recommendations*, at 72 (Jan. 29, 2003), available at <u>http://www.doh.state.fl.us/myflorida/DOH-Large-Final%20Book.pdf</u> (last visited Feb. 22, 2012)("2003 Task Force Report").

The public policy and purpose of the MMA was expressly stated by the Legislature in section 766.201:

766.201 Legislative findings and intent.

(1) The Legislature makes the following findings:

(a) Medical malpractice liability insurance premiums have increased dramatically in recent years, resulting in increased medical care costs for most patients and functional unavailability of malpractice insurance for some physicians.

(b) The primary cause of increased medical malpractice liability insurance premiums has been the substantial increase in loss payments to claimants caused by tremendous increases in the amounts of paid claims.

(c) The average cost of a medical negligence claim has escalated in the past decade to the point where it has become imperative to control such cost in the interests of the public need for quality medical services. (d) The high cost of medical negligence claims in the state can be substantially alleviated by requiring early determination of the merit of claims, by providing for early arbitration of claims, thereby reducing delay and attorney's fees, and by imposing reasonable limitations on damages, while preserving the right of either party to have its case heard by a jury.

§ 766.201 (2011), Fla. Stat.

This Court has acknowledged that the public policy of the MMA was to "address the medical liability insurance crisis." <u>Echarte</u>, 618 So. 2d at 192; <u>see also St. Mary's Hosp., Inc. v. Phillipe</u>, 769 So. 2d 961, 971 ("Legislature's stated goal [is] alleviating the financial crisis in the medical liability insurance industry.") To do this, the Legislature needed to encourage the prompt resolution of claims and to reduce the amount of claims payouts. Fla. Stat. § 766.201(1)(d); <u>Echarte</u>, 618 So. 2d at 191.

Because the NHRA has a completely different statutory purpose than the MMA, Petitioner's line of cases is distinguishable. Petitioner cannot use this line of cases for the proposition that the Contract violates public policy because the purpose of the MMA is significantly different than the NHRA. There is no express and direct conflict between the nursing home cases and the First DCA's opinion.

B. Unlike the NHRA, the MMA is not a remedial statute.

Petitioner relies on a rule of state law that an arbitration agreement cannot have provisions that are contrary to a remedial statute. It is important to note that this rule of law is only applied in cases involving statutes that are "remedial" and which are enacted to protect a specific class of people from harm. In this line of cases, the courts have held that arbitration provisions which take away rights granted in a remedial statute are void as against public policy. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Romano v.</u> <u>Manor Care, Inc.</u>, 861 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003); <u>Brasington v. EMC Corp.</u>, 855 So. 2d 1212 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003). Petitioner relies on this line of cases, most of them addressing the NHRA, to argue that the Contract here takes away rights granted by a remedial statute. However, the MMA is not a remedial statute and therefore the Petitioner's cited cases are not applicable.

Remedial statutes are ones which protect a class of persons by providing a party a remedy for a wrong where there was none before. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Wagner</u>, <u>Vaughn, et al v. Kennedy Law Group</u>, 64 So. 3d 1187, 1192 (Fla. 2011) (Florida Wrongful Death Act is remedial because it protects the survivors of decedents by providing additional damages); <u>Irven v. Dept. of HRS</u>, 790 So. 2d 403, 406 (Fla. 2001) (Whistle Blower's Act is remedial because it protects public employees who reported illegal behavior by establishing a new cause of action). In <u>Wagner</u>, this Court contrasted remedial statutes, which should be construed liberally to advance their intended remedy, with those that limited common law rights. 64 So. 3d at 1191; <u>see also Irven</u>, 790 So. 2d at 406; <u>Becker v. Amos</u>, 141 So. 136, 140 (Fla. 1932); <u>Nolan v. Moore</u>, 88 So. 601, 605 (Fla. 1921).

The NHRA is a "remedial" statute because it creates a new cause of action for the violation of statutorily created rights that were intended to protect nursing home residents from abuse. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Shotts</u>, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S665b; <u>Romano</u>, 861 So. 2d at 63. In the NHRA, the Legislature created a "Bill of Rights" and listed each right given to nursing home residents. Fla. Stat. § 400.022 (2011). There are twenty-two rights listed in the Bill of Rights and each is explained and set out in detail in the statute. "Section 400.022 creates twenty-two unique *statutory* requirements applicable to nursing homes." <u>Integrated Health Care Serv.</u>, Inc. v. Lang-Redway, 840 So. 2d 974, 979 (Fla. 2002)(emphasis in original).

Most of the NHRA cases involved the same analysis. As an example, the reasoning in <u>Romano</u> is illustrative. In <u>Romano</u>, the Second District analyzed the NHRA and held,

Sections 400.022 and 400.023 are **remedial statutes**, designed to **protect nursing home residents**. ... The [NHRA] set up rights of residents, including the right to appropriate medical care, and requires nursing homes to make public statements of the rights and responsibilities of the residents. *See* § 440.022(1). To enforce these rights, the Legislature **provided each resident with a cause of action** for their violation. *See* § 400.023(1). ... The Legislature also **provided for the award of punitive damages** for gross or flagrant conduct or conscious indifference to the rights of the resident. See § 400.023(5). Moreover, there was **no cap on pain and suffering** damages in the statute.

Romano, 861 So. 2d at 63 (emphasis added). The arbitration agreement in Romano contained provisions that "would specifically deprive the resident of

remedies that the Legislature felt were important to the reduction of elder abuse in nursing homes." <u>Id.</u> Specifically, the agreement eliminated punitive damages and it capped noneconomic damages at \$250,000.00. <u>Id.</u> at 61. In comparison, the NHRA expressly provided that residents could "recover <u>actual and punitive damages</u> for any violation of the rights of a resident or for negligence." Fla. Stat. § 400.023(1) (emphasis added). There are no caps on actual damages in the NHRA. Fla. Stat. §§ 400.022, et seq. The court held that the agreement was not enforceable because it eliminated the specific means by which the Legislature tried to reduce the abuse of nursing home residents and expressly contradicted the NHRA, a remedial statute. <u>Romano</u>, 861 So. 2d at 63.

In contrast, the MMA is not a "remedial statute" and no court has declared it as such. Rather, the MMA *reduces* and *eliminates* rights of patients that were previously available at common law. Even though the MMA limits the amount of damages available, the remedy itself is not new. <u>See Lang-Redway</u>, 840 So. 2d at 974 (noting the distinction between a statutory right to receive adequate and appropriate healthcare under the NHRA and the common law claim for medical negligence).

The Legislature's purpose in enacting the MMA is substantially similar to its purpose in enacting the Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Compensation Act ("NICA"), which was to "address the adverse impact that the high cost of medical malpractice insurance premiums was having on the delivery of obstetric services in Florida." <u>Fla. Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n v. Fla.</u> <u>Div. of Admin. Hearings</u>, 948 So. 2d 705, 710 (Fla. 2007). In <u>Fla. Birth-Related Neurological</u>, Justice Lewis and Justice Pariente both noted in their dissenting opinions that NICA limits common law rights and should be strictly construed. <u>Id.</u> at 718-719. In her dissent, Justice Pariente stated, "For this reason, NICA is not a remedial statute that should be liberally construed. Unlike legislation such as the Wrongful Death Statute and the Whistle-Blower's Act, which created remedies unknown at common law and which we have stated should be liberally construed, NICA mandates an administrative remedy in lieu of a common law remedy for most claims arising from birth-related neurological injuries." <u>Id.</u> at 722 n. 20.

Similarly, the Legislature's goal in the MMA of reducing medical malpractice insurance premiums was effectuated by measures intended to reduce the amount of claims payouts. Specifically, the Legislature targeted the reduction of (1) litigation costs and plaintiffs' attorneys' fees, which were measured to be 40% of the amounts paid by insurance companies, and (2) noneconomic damages, which it found to be arbitrarily awarded and not based on measurable losses.² Echarte, 618 So. 2d at 191-192. The Legislature used incentives for the parties to

² The Legislature also limited a plaintiff's right to economic damages to the net economic damages of past and future medical expenses and eighty percent of lost wages and earning capacity. § 766.207(7), Fla. Stat.

voluntarily elect arbitration in order to reduce litigation costs and attorneys' fees.

§ 766.207, Fla. Stat. The Legislature also placed a system of caps on noneconomic

damages to lower the excessive jury awards for pain and suffering damages. §

766.118 (2011); § 766.207(7), Fla. Stat.

Because the Legislature restricted a plaintiff's common law right to full noneconomic damages, the MMA had to meet the constitutionality test as laid out by this Court in <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973). The <u>Kluger</u> test states,

[W]here a right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury has been provided by statutory law predating the adoption of the Declaration of Rights of the Constitution of the State of Florida, or where such right has become a part of the common law of the State pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 2.01, F.S.A., the Legislature is without power to abolish such a right without providing a **reasonable alternative** to protect the rights of the people of the State to redress for injuries, <u>unless</u> the Legislature can show an **overpowering public necessity** for the abolishment of such right, **and no alternative method** of meeting such public necessity can be shown.

281 So. 2d at 8-9 (emphasis added). This Court has held that section 766.207 is constitutional even though it abolished a plaintiff's common law right to full noneconomic damages because the Legislature evidenced an "overpowering public necessity" and "no alternative method" was available. Echarte, 618 So. 2d at 196.

This Court in <u>Echarte</u> also found that plaintiffs' receive a "commensurate benefit" from the legislation because it provides prompt recovery, eliminates the uncertainty of litigation, and saves the expense of expert witness fees which would be required to prove liability.³ <u>Id.</u> at 194. It is this commensurate benefit that Petitioner is now trying to say is the granting of "new rights" to plaintiffs, making the MMA a "remedial" statute. Petitioner asserts that she has the "right" to have a doctor admit liability. However, MMA arbitration is simply a method for settling a claim that is already ripe for settlement. The doctor is not contesting liability, therefore the only issue to be determined is the amount of damages. MMA arbitration makes the settlement process more productive because the parties are bound by the arbitrators' determination of damages. More realistically, the commensurate benefits to plaintiffs are not new rights but merely the Legislature providing plaintiffs with an *incentive* to elect arbitration.

The commensurate benefits to plaintiffs were not meant to create new rights in order to "protect" patients. Rather, they were a part of a comprehensive legislative scheme to reduce insurance claim payouts. Moreover, the MMA does not create a new "right to proceed to trial." The right to proceed to trial pre-existed the MMA and was always subject to the right of the parties to voluntarily contract otherwise.

In essence, remedial statutes, like the NHRA, create new rights and remedies not previously available in order to protect a class of people from harm. Unlike

³ In MMA arbitration, the doctor does not contest liability. "Upon the completion of presuit investigation with preliminary reasonable grounds for a medical negligence claim intact, the parties may elect to have damages determined by an arbitration panel." § 766.207(2), Fla. Stat.

remedial statutes, the MMA reduces and eliminates rights of patients that *were* previously available at common law. Because the MMA is not a remedial statute, the Petitioner's reliance on the rule of law for remedial statutes is not appropriate in this case. There is no express and direct conflict with the NHRA cases.

C. The Contract does not undermine the public purpose of the MMA nor does it conflict with its terms.

Whether or not this Court determines that the MMA is a remedial statute, the Contract is still enforceable because it does not contain provisions that defeat the purpose of the MMA or contradict its terms. Indeed, it uses the same means to accomplish the reduction of litigation costs and attorneys' fees as well as the prevention of excessive noneconomic damage awards.

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